
United States Department of State 

       Washington, D.C. 20520 

 
             May 26, 2022 
 

 Case Number: F-2020-00588 
Melanie Sloan 
American Oversight  
1030 15th Street NW Ste B255 
Washington, DC  20005 
 
Dear Ms. Sloan: 
 
This is in response to your October 8, 2019, request submitted pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA), 5 U.S.C. § 552, in which you requested all records reflecting communications of the Acting Legal 
Adviser Marik String, former Acting Legal Adviser Richard Visek, former Legal Adviser Jennifer 
Newstead, and anyone serving as their Principal Deputies or Chiefs of Staff, regarding (1) any plan by 
Rudolph Giuliani, Sam Kislin, Victoria Toensing, and/or Joseph diGenova to travel to Ukraine or to 
communicate with Ukrainian government officials or future Ukrainian government officials and/or (2) any 
other effort to encourage the Ukrainian government to investigate any matter related to former Vice 
President Joseph Biden or his son Hunter Biden. Please be advised that documents related to this request 
have been processed and released.  . The released material can be accessed by searching case numbers F-
2019-06331 and F-2019-09097 on the following link: Virtual Reading Room Documents Search (state.gov).  
 
This action closes your request in this office.  For further assistance or to discuss any aspect of your request, 
you may contact our FOIA Requester Service Center or our FOIA Public Liaison via email to 
FOIAstatus@state.gov or telephone at (202) 261-8484. Please include the case number in all future 
communications concerning this FOIA request. 
 
,I�\RX�DUH�QRW�VDWLVILHG�ZLWK�'26¶V�GHWHUPLQDWLRQ�LQ�UHVSRQVH�WR�\RXU�FOIA request, you may 
administratively appeal by writing to:  Appeals Officer, Office of Information Programs and Services (IPS), 
U.S. Department of State, A/GIS/IPS/PP/LA, HST Room B266, 2201 C Street, NW, Washington, D.C. 
20520, or by faxing to 202-485-1718.  Appeals must be postmarked within 90 calendar days and include a 
copy of this letter, clearly stating why you disagree with the determination set forth in this response. 
 
$GGLWLRQDOO\��LI�\RX�DUH�QRW�VDWLVILHG�ZLWK�'26¶V�GHWHUPLnation in response to your request, you may contact 
the Office of Government Information Services at the National Archives and Records Administration to 
inquire about the FOIA Mediation Services they offer.  The contact information is as follows:  Office of 
Government Information Services, National Archives and Records Administration, 8601 Adelphi Road-OGIS, 
College Park, Maryland 20740-6001, email address: ogis@nara.gov; telephone: (202) 741-5770; toll free 
number: 1-877-684-6448; fax: (202) 741-5769. 
 

Sincerely, 
 
 
Ennelle Debrosse 
Acting Branch Chief 
Office of Information Programs and Services 

ENNELLE DEBROSSE
Digitally signed by ENNELLE 
DEBROSSE 
Date: 2022.05.25 16:10:31 -04'00'
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I Released in Part I 
From: Kurt VolkerlCb)(5) I 

To: Ortagus, Morgan D l(b)(5) I 
CC: 

Martin, Kathryn (Katie) Kb)(6) I 
Volker, Kurt Dl(b)(6) I 

Subject: Re: Request from Foreign Policy 

Date: Thu, 26 Sep 2019 14:41:53 -0400 

Yes - read that before we spoke in fact. It is great. fb)(S) 
fb}(5) I .___ __________ ___, 

Let me know your thoughts on FP? Thanks! 

On Thu, Sep 26, 2019 at 2:35 PM Ortagus, Morgan Dl(b)(5) f wrote: 
Kurt- Josh's WaPo piece was great last night. Did you read it? Not sure he can write 
much more beyond that. Looping in Katie too 

Get Outlook for iOS 

From: Kurt Volker._l<b_)C6_) _______ __, 
Sent: Thursday, September 26, 2019 2:22:31 PM 
To: Volker, Kurt D fb)(6) I; Ortagus, Morgan D f ..... b_)C6_l ______ __. 
Subject: Fwd: Request from Foreign Policy 

Hi Morgan - in addition to Josh, this might be a good one to do. I know them both. 
What do you think? Kurt 

---------- Forwarded message ---------
From: Amy MackinnonK ~b~)(6~)------------~ 

Date: Thu, Sep 26, 2019 at 1 :05 PM 
Subject: Request from Foreign Policy 
To: Kurt Volker ..... fb_)(6_) _______ ___, 

Dear Ambassador Volker, 

My colleague Robbie Gramer and I are working on a story about details in the 
whistleblower report of the State Department eff01ts to "contain the damage" of Rudy 
Giuliani's outreach to Ukraine, and I wanted to reach out to see if you wanted to offer a 
comment about details of your activities outlined in the report. 

Everyone that we've spoken to thus far has characterized you as a consummate 
professional with Ukraine's interests firmly at heart, and we really want to ensure that 
your work is accurately characterized in our rep01ting. We'd be very keen to talk in 
whatever attribution capacity you feel most comfortable. 
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In addition, I just reviewed the transcript of our interview in June. I asked about 
whether you were concerned that Giuliani would make repeat trips to Ukraine to revisit 
the issue, and you said you were not concerned. 

"I'm not concerned at all. I had nothing to do with anything going on in Ukraine in 
2016. Zelenskyy had nothing to do with anything going on related to U.S. elections. If 
there's information about things that some people in Ukraine did, not the people that 
are in government now, but if there's information about what some Ukrainian citizens 
did, then it should be shared, should be investigated, should be transparent. I don't 
think there's any problem with that. Why not? I don't see any real issue." 

Do stand by these comments? Would you like to offer an update? I can be reached on 
fbJ(6l lif you have any questions or comments. 

Many thanks, 
Amy 

Amy Mackinnon 
Repo1ter I Foreign Policy 

fb\/6) ! 
WhatsApp /Viber /Signal/Telegram 

Amb. Kurt Volker 
Executive Director 
McCain Institute for International Leadership 
Arizona State University 

ASU Barrett & O'Connor Center 
1800 I Street NW. Suite 600. Washington. DC 20006 

r)(6) 

www.McCainlnstitute.org 
Twitter• Facebook • lnstagram • YouTube • LinkedlN 

Amb. Kurt Volker 
Executive Director 
McCain Institute for International Leadership 
Arizona State University 

/\Mlf IC/\\ 
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ASU Barrett & O'Connor Center 
1800 I Street NW, Suite 600, Washington, DC 20006 

I'('' I 

www.McCainlnstitute.org 
Twitter• Facebook • lnstagram • YouTube • Linked IN 

Sender: Kurt Volker 1<bl(6) 

Ortagus, Morgan D fbl( 6l 

Recipient: Martin, Kathryn (Katie) Kb)(6) 

Volker, Kurt D fbl(6l 
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A'V1 ~I( A~ 

Released in Part I 
!8/9/19, 2:24:21 PM] a€2You created group a€reAnorey/Gordon/Kurta€ 
:s/9/19, 2:24:21 PMJ Andrey/Gordon/Kurt: a€2Messages to this group 
are now secured wlLh end-Lo-end encry9Lion. 
(8/9/19, 2:24:57 PIV'.J Kurt Volker: Hi AndreyaE:" we have all consulted 
here, including wich Rudy. Can yoJ do a call later today or 
tomorrow your afternoon time? Kur~ 
[8/9/19, 2:25:40 PMJ Gordon Sondland: I have a call sched at 3pm 
Eastern for the Lhree of ~s. Ops will call 
(8/13/19, 10:11:50 A~] Kurt Volker: Hi Andrey aE:" we spoke with 
Rudy. When is good to call you? 
[8/13/19, 10:19:20 .AM] Andrey Yermak: Hi K~rt 
[8/13/19, 10:19:50 AM] Gordon Sandland: I can Lalk now 
(8/13/19, 10:20:54 AM] Andrey Yermak: Iae'Hm in Israel 
(8/13/19, 10:21:20 AM] Gordon Sondland: Important. Do you have 5 
mins 
[8/13/19, 10: 21: 21 .A .. J.'11] Andrey Yermak: l can speak in 10-:s min 
[8/13/19, 10:22:55 AM] Gordon Sandland: Ok I will have our operator 
dial us in at 4:35 Brussels time 
:8/13/19, 10:23:14 AM] Kur~ Volker: Can we do this one on whata€™s 
App? 
[8/13/19, 10:23:31 AM] Gordon Sandland: 0~, fine. Can yo~ initiate? 
(8/13/19, 10:23:41 AM) Kurt Volker: Yes - will do 
[8/13/19, 10:24:17 AM] Andrey Yermak: Ok 
[8/13/19, 12:11:15 PM] Kure Volker: Hi Andrey 4€" good talking I€" 
following is text with inse:t at the end fo: the 2 key !terns. We 
will work on official requesl 
[8/13/19, 12:11:19 PM) Kure Volker: SpeciaJ attention should oe paid 
to the problem o: inter:erer.ce in the political processes of the 
United Staces, especially with the alleged involvement of some 
Ukrainian politicians. I want lo declare Lhat Lhis is unacceptable. 
We intend to initiate and complete a transparent and unbiased 
i~vestigation of all available facts and episodes, including those 
i~volving Burisma and the 2016 U.S. elections, which in turn will 
prevent the recurrence of chis problem in tr.e future. 
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I Released in Fulll 

[7/10/19, 7:57:58 A.~) Kurt Volker: Good grief. Please tell Vadym to 
let the official USG representatives speak for the U.S. lutsenko 
has his own self-InLerest ~ere ... 
[7/10/19, 7:58:37 AM) Bill Taylor: Exactly what I co]d them. 
(7/10/19, 7:59:41 AM) Bill Taylor: And I said that RG is a p=ivate 
citizen. 
[7/10/19, 11:43:41 AMI Bill Taylor: 1 briefed Ulrich this afternoo~ 
on this. 
[7/10/19, 2:26:06 PM] Bill Taylor: Eager to hear if your meeting 
with Danyliuk and Bolton resulted in a decision o~ a ca:1. 
[7/10/19, 10:26:13 PM] Bill Taylor: How did the meeting go? 
[7/10/19, 10:29:44 PM] Kun Volker: Nol good a€" lela€7-"s t.alk a€" kv 
[7/10/19, 10:31:20 PM] Bill Taylor: Just called. You are on the 
phone. 
[7/14/19, 10:07:27 AM) Gordon Sandland: Everyone is now :ocused on 
making the Potus ZE call happen prio= to 7/21 
(7/14/19, 10:09:33 AM] Kurt Volker: AnyLhi~g new you have heard? 
[7/14/19, 10:12:57 AM] Gordon Sandland: Tim Morrison is also 
tracking now. Good sign 
[7/14/19, 10:16:46 AMI Bill 'l'aylor: They will make it happen 
whenever, but they want him in an office, ideally his, so the 
connection and interpretation are clear. A~y indication of timing 
most welcome 
!7/15/19, 10:10:22 AM] Bill Taylor: We keep gett:3g readouts of the 
Danyliuk-Bolton meeting that predict no phor.e call or meeting any 
time soon. This can'L be my message to Ze. Eow to proceed? 
[7/15/19, 10:31 :05 AM] Gordon Sondland: Talking to NSC tomorrow at 
8:30 eastern 
[7/16/19, 12:47:13 PMI Bill Tay:or: Make any progress? 
{7/17/19, 10:46:23 AM] Bill Taylor: Danyliuk just asked if Lhere was 
any news from the WH. Any update? 
(7/17/19, 10:47:01 AM] Gordon Sandland: I put in a call to Potus and 
am waiting for a return 
[7/17/19, 10:47:44 AMI Bill Taylor: Exceller.t thanks, Gordon 
[7/18/19, 10:19:54 AM) Bill Taylor: 0MB on a SVTS jusl now said that 
all security assistance to Ukraine is frozen, per a conversation 
with Mulvaney and POTUS. Over to you. 
[7/18/19, 11:07:08 AMI Gordon Sandland: All over it 
(7/19/19, 10:19:10 AMI Bill Taylor: Can we marshal our forces to get 
a congratulatory phone call from POTUS to Ze mid lo late 3ext week, 
assuming =he election goes well and Servant of the People does well? 
{7/19/19, 11:31:03 AM] Gordon Sondlar.d: Talked to WH. ~his is 
moving but post election 
[7/19/19, 11:49:51 A.~] Bill Taylor: If we can get a congratulatory 
call post election, that could begin to establish the relationship? 
[7/19/19, 4:49:42 PM) Kurt Volker: Can we ~h=ee do a call tomorrow 
IE" say noon WASHINGTON? 
[7/19/19, 6:50:29 PMJ Gordon Sandland: Looks like Potus call 
tomorrow. I spike directly to Zelensky and gave him a full 
briefing. llea€1"s got .it. 
[7/19/19, 6:52:57 PM] Gordon Sandland: Sure! 
[7/19/19, 7:01:22 PM] Kurt Volker: Good. Had breakfast with Rudy 
this morning A€" teeing up call w Yermak Mor.day. Must have helped. 
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Deliberative 
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A'V1 ~I( A~ 

I Released i.-. Part I 
Most impt is for zelensky co say that he will help investigation a€n 
and address any specific personnel issues 1€n if there are any 
[7/19/19, 11:53:55 PM] Bill Taylor: Good idea for us to check in at 
noon Washington time. I just heard that the POTGS call that had been 
scheduled for 1500 Kyiv time today has been put on hold pending the 
outcome of the election tomorrow. ls that w~at you hear? 
(7/20/19, 4:52:58 AMJ Bill Taylor: If possible, I'd like to at least 
know when these are scheduled. r· can at least reinforce what you are 
doing. 
[7/20/19, 4:53:15 AM) Gordon Sandland: Call me Bill thx 
[7/20/19, 10:41:01 AM) Bill Taylor: Do we need to talk at neon 
Washington Lime? 
(7/20/19, 10:45:50 AM) Kurr. Volker: Yes - IaE:"'"m availab:.e. Not sure 
if Gordon car. or not but letaE:-"'s plan on it, and wea€~1:. loop Gordon 
in if we can 
(7/20/19, 11:33:00 AM) Bill Taylor: Kupperman (sp?) wants to talk to 
Danyliuk secure so I am meeting taking him to my office. Can we 
reschedule? 
(7/20/19, 11:37:11 AM) Kurt Volker: Absolutely 
(7/20/19, 11:37:19 AM) Kurt Volker: Anytime today will work for me 
[7/20/19, 11:46:20 AM) Bill Taylor: Maybe after the Kupperman­
Danyliuk call? Around 9 my time tonight? 
[7/20/19, 12:29:14 PM] Kurt Volker: Ok 
(7/20/19, 1:48:41 PM) Bill Taylor: Just finished with Danyliuk. Will 
be in the car in 10 minutes. Call then? 
[7/20/19, 1:49:03 PM) Kur: Volker: Yes - good 
[7/20/19, 2:27:04 P~] Bill Taylor: Call now? 
(7/21/19, 1:45:54 A~) Bi:l Taylor: Gordon, one thing Kurt and I 
talked about yesterday was Sasha Danyliuk's point that President 
Zelenskyy is sensltlve about Ukraine being taken seriously, not 
merely as an instrument in Washington domestic, reelectio~ politics. 
(7/21/19, 4:45:44 AM] Gordon Sond]and: Absolutely, but we need to 
get the conversation started and the relationship built, 
irrespective of the pretext. I am worried about the alternative. 
(7/21/19, 5:21:47 AMI Bill Taylor: So, the call tomorrow can be a 
positive s-r.ep. 
[7/22/19, 12:15:55 AM) Bill Taylor: Good, pretty long meeting --
both one-on-one and with Bohdan, Sasha, Yermak, Razumkov -- with ~he 
president at his ca~paign headquarters last night. Interested in 
both the call and meeting. I couldn't be specific. 
[7/22/19, 12:17:16 AM) Bill Taylor: Sounds like Wasr.ington is 
thinking about a congratulatory call in the next cou le of days 

1 ay or: Very good election result for 
Zelenskyy and us. Likely a young, Western-oriented prime minister. 
Ze likely in coalition with Vakarchuk (wi~h whom I have met one-on­
one twice in the last three days). 
(7/22/19, 12:22:01 A."1) Gordon Sandland: So Monday call was just 
rumor? 
(7/22/19, 12:28:22 AM] Bill Taylor: Doesn't sound like from either 
side that it was actually scheduled. 
(7/22/19, 8:38:05 AM] Kurt Volker: Yermak thinks Call is at 6pm Kiev 
today. Bill A€n any idea? Should I call sltroom? 
[7/22/19, 8:40:38 AM) Gordon Sandland: Good idea 

PVERSIGHT 
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[7/26/19, 6:25:23 AM] Kurt Volker: Hi Andrey a€n good meeting! 
Here is the paper we did last year as ll intended to be an annex to a 
UN Security Council RA©solution about a peacekeeping force. 
[7/26/19, 6:26:00 AM] Kure Volker: Also a€ n Rudy Giuliani says he 

arrives in Madrid on August l and departs August 5. 
[7/27/19, 3:01:16 AM] Andrey Yermak: Good morning 
[7/27/19, 3:01:42 AM] Andrey Yermak: l will be in Hyatt in 7 min 
[8/1/19, 2:23:52 PM] Kurt Volker: Hi Andreya€" just checking in a€'' 

how is everything? On track for Madrid? Visit to DC? Kurt 
[8/1/19, 3:36:03 PM] Andrey Yermak: Hi Kurt. Now in plane from 
Zurich to Madrid. Will call you after landing 
[8/2/19, 1:27:31 PM] Andrey Yermak: a€2Missed voice call 
18/2/19, 1:27:42 PM] Andrey Yermak: Hi Kurt 
[8/2/19, 1:28:19 PM] Andrey Yermak: My meeting with Mr.Mayor was 
very good 
[8/2/19, 1:30:36 PM] Andrey Yermak: We asked for White House meeting 

during week start 16 Sept. Waiting for confirmation. May be you know 
the date? 
[8/2/19, 1:30:46 PM) Andrey Yermak: When we can talk? 
[8/2/19, 1:31:04 PM) Andrey Yermak: Will be 1,5 hours in plane 
[8/2/19, 1:38:44 PM] Kurt Volker: Hi Andrey a€" sorry I missed you. 
Will be free when you land 
(8/4/19, 12:39:54 PM] Andrey Yermak: Hi Kurt, how are you? Do you 
have any news? 
[8/4/19, 1:16:37 PM] Kurt Volker: Hi Andrey a€" speaking w Rudy in 
about 2 hours A€" call you after? 
[8/4/19, 1:17:17 PM] Andrey Yermak: Yes, of course 
[8/4/19, 4:20:55 PM] Kurt Volker: Have still not heard back aE N 

other than a text saying a€�great meetingaC 
[8/4/19, 4:21:11 PM) Kurt Volker: I think it is late in Spain now so 
will try again first thing in the morning 
[8/5/19, 1:19:18 PM] Kurt Volker: Hi Andrey a€" had a good long talk 
w Rudy a€u call anytime - Kurt 
(8/7/19, 1:32:10 PM] Andrey Yermak: Hi Kurt. How are you? Do you 
have some news about White House meeting date? 
(8/7/19, 1:34:35 PM] Kurt Volker: Hi Andrey! Not yet aen I texted 
Rudy earlier to make sure he weighs in following your meeting. 
Gordon should be speaking with the president on Friday. We are 
pressing this ... 
[8/7/19, 1:35:09 PM] Andrey Yermak: Thank you! 
[8/7/19, 1:36:07 PM) Kurt Volker: Also ae" I expect to see pompeo 
next week as well, but not yet confirmed. Will ask him to help 
also. 
[8/8/19, 3:46:10 PM] Andrey Yermak: Hi Kurt. Can you talk? I have 
some news 
[8/8/19, 4:51:58 PM) Kurt Volker: Hi Andreya€" yes a€" Now is good 
a€" or tomorrow if too late for you now 
(8/10/19, 4:46:29 PM] Andrey Yermak: a€ZMissed voice call 
[8/10/19, 4:53:15 PM] Andrey Yermak: A€2This message was deleted. 
(8/10/19, 4:56:15 PM) Andrey Yermak: Hi Kurt. Please let me know 

when you can talk. I think itac-s possible to make this declaration 
and mention all these things. Which we discussed yesterday. But it 
will be logic to do after we receive a confirmation of date. We 

STATE-19-1267-A-000007
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0 

Monday 10 to 11 

l(b )(6) 

Ok, thank you 

Released in Part 

iMessage 
7/19/19, 4:48 PM 

Mr Mayor - really enjoyed breakfast this morning. 
As discussed, connecting you here with Andrey 
Yermak, who is very close to President Zelensky. I 
suggest we schedule a call together on Monday -
maybe 10am or 11am Washington time? Kurt 

I will set up call -10am - thanks - Kurt ) 

7/22/19, 8:29 AM 

Good morning - and congratulations! Looking 
forward to talking - in 90 min 

Thank you very much! And I'm waiting l 

l(b)(6) 

Call at 10 correct? 

7/22/19, 10:50 AM 

Thank you, Mr. Mayor for honest and productive 
conversation. I'm sure things will move quickly from 
today onwards and we will be able to take this 
relationship to a new level. If I may have your 

Yes) 

/\Mlf IC/\\ 
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I Released in Part I 
schedule, I will plan a trip to meet in person ASAP. ) 

fb)(6) I 

0 I will leave today 3 pm 

/\Mlf IC/\\ 
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Released in Part I 
iMessage 

8/1/19, 9:55 AM 

Hi Mr Mayor- hope all is well, and that things ar;-j 
on track to see Yermak in Madrid. __) 

Am copying Gordon Sandland, a friend of POTU~ 
who is our Ambassador to the EU. He is also helping 
on Ukraine and would love to catch up with you at 
some point. 

As always, let me know if I can be helpful on 
anything - Kurt 

Thanks Kurt. Hi Mayor. Working on a number of 
time sensitive EU issues. Would welcome your take? 
I'm in Brussels but in DC and NY regularly. Gordon 

8/1/19, 11:08 AM 

Seeing Yermak in Madrid tomorrow. Would like to 
meet with Gordon also. 

I will be near Madrid over weekend 

Rudy, great. We met a while back in NY at one of 
Doug Ducey's events. Had a good talk. Roy Bailey 
was on the menu •• . I will be in DC on the 12. Will 
you be there or in NY? Have a number of things for 
you to think about. Gordon 

I will probably be in NYC 

rb)(6) 

Bkfst@ Peninsula first thing on 8/12? Have to be in 
DC mid day. 

If I'm here will let you know as soon as I can 

8/9/19, 11:27 AM 

Hi Mr Mayor! Had a good chat with Yermak last j 
night. He was pleased with your phone call. 
Mentioned Z making a statement. Can we all get on 

the phone to make sure I advise Z correctly as to 
what he should be saying? Want to make sure we 

/\Mlf IC/\\ 
pVERSIGHT 



STATE-19-1267-A-000011

F-2019-09097 1/10/2020 26 

0 
O· 

Released in Part 

I get this done right. Thanks! 

Good idea Kurt. I am on Pacific time. 

rb)(6) 

Yes can you call now going to Fundraiser at 12:30 

rb)(6) 

I will have state ops build a call. 

State is calling now 

8/11/19, 10:28 AM 

l 

Hi Rudy - we have heard bCk from Andrey again~ 
they are writing the statement now and will send to 
us. Can you talk for 5 min before noon today? 

0 Yes just call 

/\Mlf IC/\\ 
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iMessage with~fb_)<B_l ____ ~ 

5/11/19, 10:04 AM 

Hi Mr Mayor - Kurt Volker here. Good speaking w 
you yesterday. Call anytime up to about 4pm today if 
you want to follow up. Would like to brief you more 
about Zelensky discussion and also Russia-Ukraine 
dynamic. 

1 This number is good for text and cell phone ) 

7/10/19, 8:01 AM 

Mr Mayor - could we meet for coffee or lunch in the ) 
next week or so? I'd like to update you on my 
conversations about Ukraine. I think we have an I 
opportunity to get you what you need. Best - Kurt V 

Yes I am so n way to Albania. I'll text some J 
suggestions a little later _________ _, 

Will be in DC this Friday 

Ok will let you know ASAP 

8:00am is fine 

/\Mlf IC/\\ 
pVERSIGHT 

Great - thank you! ) 

7/15/19, 2:53 PM 

Dear Mr. Mayor -- are you back stateside? Let's talk ) 
or get together ... Best - Kurt Volker I 
7/17/19, 12:QQ PM ------------

Checking in - are you stateside? Kurt V ) 

7/17/19, 1:06 PM 

Great -- let's meet for breakfast or coffee? ) 

7/18/19, 5:11 PM 

Hi Mr Mayor - can I buy you breakfast tomorrow? ) 

Suggest trump hotel - 7:30am or 8:00am? ) 

Great - see you there - thanks - Kur: ) 

7/19/19, 8:08 AM 

Good morning! Am in the restaurant on the 
mezzanine. Kurt 
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I will arrive on Aug 1 and until 5 

Thank you 

I Released in Fulll 

7/26/19, 5:55 AM 

Hi Mr Mayor-you may have heard-the President 1 
has a great phone call with the Ukrainian President 
yesterday. Exactly the right messages as we 
discussed. 

Please send dates when you will be in Madrid. I am 
seeing Yermak tomorrow morning. He will come to 
you in Madrid. 

Thanks for your help! Kurt ) 

Great -I will tell Yermak and he'll visit with you 
there. Thanks! 

8/4/19, 12:55 PM 

Mr Mayor- how was your meeting with Andrey l 
do you have time for a call? Best - Kurt 

It was excellent I can call a little later. 

Kurt, 

Great to hear. Maybe 3pm DC time? ) 

8/4/19, 4:10 PM 

Is now a good time to call? ) 

8/7/19, 12:52 PM 

Hi Rudy -hope you made it back safely. Let's meet 1 
if you are coming to DC. And would be good if you 
could convey results of your meeting in Madrid to 
the boss so we get a firm date for a visit. Best -
Kurt 

8/13/19, 9:57 AM 

Mr mayor - trying to set up call in 5 min via stat:] 
Dept. If now is not convenient, is there a time later 
today? 

9/22/19, 8:35 AM 

Thanks for the support. All I need is for you to tell 
the truth. You called me about Yermak and I 
reported back to you and Sandland, eg., a 
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I Released in Fulll 

conference call on Aug. 11. Three others before. 
Really this is not hard just fair to affirm truth. 
Rudy 

Also Secretary seems not to know you put us 
together. Straighten him out . 

• 
I certainly will let him know 

Please send dates when you will be in Madrid. I am 
seeing Yermak tomorrow morning. He will come to ) 
you in Madrid. _ 

Thanks for your help! Kurt 

Kurt will you please get out a statement that State I 
connected me to Yermak and I reported back to 
State on my conversations. Yermak has talked about 
this to Press so it's now public information. All I'm 
asking is to tell the truth. I can send you text chain if j 
you need to check your recollection. _ 

Also have Sandland inform Pompeo he can say State 
connected me with Ukraine official and was aware of 
it. 

9/22/19, 6:40 PM 

Hi Rudy - sorry for delay - just spoke w Secretary 
Pompeo - wanted to be sure we are coordinated. 
We have a statement from Aug 22 that makes clear 

it was coordinated - indeed, that i made the 
connection between you and Yermak. 

II 
Was tweeted by NYTimes Ken Vogel at the time 

STATE OEPARnrt:-, SPOKESPERSON STATEM.E~, 
AUGUST 22. 20 I 9 

• The United Slates strongly suppons Ukraine as i1 deepens its democracy, fights corruption. 
pursues economic reform. and improves i1s ability to defend itself against Russia's ongoing 
aggression. 

" President Trump has invited President Zelenskyy to visit him at the White House. and both 
sides are working on 1he scheduling of such a mee1ing. 

• \Ve unders:tand tluu the Ukrainian go,·emmenl taking shape under President Zelens.lqfy is 
committed to fighting corruption and other illegal activi1ies and tbnl investigations into such 
matters would be consistent within tha1 O\'erall approach. 

• Ambassador Volker has confirmed 1b.,1. al Presidential Advisor-Andr-iy Yennak's request. 
Volker put Yem1ak in direc1 con1,ac1 with Mr. Giuliani. 
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1 rump. He <1oe-s 001 SJ)<'aX oo btball ot me u.~. voverrune-n1. we \\'0\IICI reIer you to Mt. 
Giuliani for informa1ion a.bom the c:onte-n1 of Mr. Giuliani's COO\'f:rsations wi1h Ukrainian 
officials. 

@StenyHoyer JUST IN: The 
@StateDept, which facilitated 
@RudyGiuliani's communications with 
the Ukrainian gov't (during which he 
urged an investigation of @JoeBiden), 
says Giuliani "acts in a personal capacity 
as a lawyer for President TRUMP. He 
does not speak on behalf of the US 
Government." 

't# K~nneth P. Vogel 
twitter.com 

Read 9/22/19 
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Released in Part 

From: Kurt Volker fb)( 6) I 
Taylor, William B (Kyiv) fb)( 5) I 

To: Volker, Kurt D fb)(6) I 
Croft, Catherine M Kb)(6) I 

Subject: Fwd: per request - quick points on giuliani story 

Date: Thu, 22 Aug 2019 22:45:10 +0300 

Hi Bill -- just got a request for something on this from the Spokesperson -- here's my 
suggested points. - kurt 

Amb. Kurt Volker 
Executive Director 
McCain Institute for International Leadership 
Arizona State University 

ASU Barrett & O'Connor Center 
1800 I Street NW, Suite 600, Washington, DC 20006 

rb)(6) I 

www.McCainlnstitute.org 
Twitter• Facebook • lnstagram • YouTube • Linked IN 

---------- Forwarded message ---------
From: Kurt Volker ...,l<b....,..)(

5
..,,.>_..,...,,.......,...,,...=-=--=-----' 

Date: Thu, Aug 22, 2019 at 10:40 PM 
Subject: per request - quick points on giuliani story 
To: (b)(6) 

Cc: Volker, Kurt D b)(6) Croft, Catherine M l .... <b_)<6_> ______ __, 
r::-:-:=-..._------....----' 

Philip Reeker b)(6) 
~-------~ 

b)(S) 
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(b)(S) 

Hope this does the trick - Kurt 

Sender: 

Recipient: 

/\Mlf IC/\\ 
pVERSIGHT 

Kurt Volkerl<b)(6) 

Taylor, William B (Kyiv)~b)(6) 
Volker, Kurt D ~b)(6) 
Croft, Catherine M ~b)(6) 

I 
I 

I 
I 
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I Released in Part I 

From: Kurt Volker fb)(6) I 
To: Volker, Kurt D ~b)(6) I 

Subject: Fwd: Two Unofficial US Operatives Reporting To Trump's Lawyer Privately 
Lobbied A Foreign Government In A Bid To Help The President Win In 2020 

Date: Sun, 1 Dec 2019 14:51:52 -0500 

Amb. Kurt Volker 
[b)(6) I 

---------- Forwarded message ---------

From: l!-<b_)<B_) ..,..........,---,--.,..--,----,--------,......,....-----~ 
Date: Sun, Jul 28, 2019 at 10:44 AM 
Subject: Re: Two Unofficial US Operatives Reporting To Trump's Lawyer Privately 
Lobbied A Foreign Government In A Bid To Help The President Win In 2020 
To: Kurt Volkerl(b)(6) I 
Cc: Taylor, William B (Kyiv) .... fb_)(6_) -------~ 

Gordon D. Sondland 
Ambassador of the United States of America 
United States Mission to the European Union 
Rue Zinner 13 
1000 Brussels, Belgium 

fb)(6) I 
UNCLASSIFIED 

On Jul 28, 2019, at 3:30 PM, Kurt Volker! .... <b_l<6_> ______ ___,frote: 

l(b )(5) 

On Sun, Jul 28, 2019 at 5: 17 AM Taylor, William B (Kyiv) 
fbl(6) !wrote: 
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https://www.buzzfeed.com/mikesallah/rudy-qiuliani-ukraine-trump-parnas­
fruman 

Amb. Kurt Volker 
Executive Director 
McCain Institute for International Leadership 
Arizona State University 

ASU Barrett & O'Connor Center 
1800 I Street NW, Suite 600, Washington, DC 20006 

1)(6) 

www.McCainlnstitute.org 
Twitter• Facebook • lnstagram • YouTube • LinkedlN 

Sender: 

Recipient: 
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pVERSIGHT 

Kurt Volker ~b)(6) I 
Volker, Kurt D fb)(B) I 
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I Released in Part I 

From: Kurt Volker j(b)(6) I 
To: Virginia Poundsl(b)(6) I 

CC: 
Croft, Catherine M l(b)(5) I 
Volker, Kurt D Kb)(6) I 

Subject: Re: Call to the front office from House Foreign Affairs 

Date: Fri, 20 Sep 2019 14:45:44 -0400 

Great - refer him to b)(
5

) 

(b)(6) 

Catherine May have phone number as well. 

-kv 

On Fri, Sep 20, 2019 at 2:39 PM Virginia Pounds J,__<b_><5_> ________ _.I wrote: 

Thanks, Kurt, and hello Catherine. Matt told me he was going to call back in an hour -
if you could please provide me with an email address or phone number he can call, I 
will forward him on as you direct. 

Best, 

Virg 

Virginia Pounds 
Office Manager and HR Liaison 

McCain Institute 

Arizona State University 

Barrett & O'Connor Center 

1800 I Street NW, Suite 600, Washington, DC 20006 

l(b )(6) 
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._ICb_><
5
_> _________ _,IMcCaininstitute.org 

Twitter • Facebook • Instagram • YouTube • Linkedin 

From: Kurt Volker !Cb)(6l I 
Date: Friday, September 20, 2019 at 2:25 PM 
To: "Croft, Catherine M" (b)(B) Virginia Pounds 
b)(6) 'Volker, Kurt D" (b)(6) ~------~ 

Subject: Re: Call to the front office from House Foreign Affairs 

Exactly-

Copying Catherine Croft. Catherine - please get details from Virg and pass them to 
fb)(B) ~ cc: to me. Thanks - kv 

On Fri, Sep 20, 2019 at 2:21 PM Virginia Poundsl._Cb_)<B_> _______ _.lwrote: 

Matt Finkel from the committee called and asked if he could get a statement from 
you regarding an introduction of Giuliani to Ukrainian government officials. 

Is this something we can send to State Depa1iment? 

Thanks, 

Virg 
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Amb. Kurt Volker 
Executive Director 
McCain Institute for International Leadership 
Arizona State University 

ASU Barrett & O'Connor Center r\~\"' I Stceet NW, Suite rO, Washington, DC 20006 

www.McCainlnstitute.org 
Twitter• Facebook • lnstagram • YouTube • LinkedlN 

Amb. Kurt Volker 
Executive Director 
McCain Institute for International Leadership 
Arizona State University 

ASU Barrett & O'Connor Center 
1800 I Street NW, Suite 600, Washington, DC 20006 

r,,,, I 

www.McCainlnstitute.org 
Twitter• Facebook • lnstagram • YouTube • Linked IN 

Sender: 

Recipient: 

/\Mlf IC/\\ 
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Kurt VolkerKb)(6) 

Virginia Pounds Kb)(B) 
Croft, Catherine M ~b)(B) 
Volker, Kurt D ~b)(6) 

I 
I 
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I Released in Part 

From: "Kurt Volker" ~b)(6) I 
To: Croft, catherine M ~b)(6l I 
CC: Volker, Kurt D ~b)(6) I 

Subject: Re: Ukraine social media update: Video from MP Leshchenko about legal 
case about U.S. elections interference 

Date: Tue, 16 Jul 2019 09:27:41 -0400 

ugggh... that is not how it will play here... this will be taken as Ze team doing a cover­
up ... 

Amb. Kurt Volker 
Executive Director 
McCain Institute for International Leadership 
Arizona State University 

ASU Barrett & O'Connor Center r,f 
6
~ I Street NW, Suite r00, Washington, DC 20006 

www.McCainlnstitute.org 
Twitter• Facebook • lnstagram • You Tube • Linked IN 

On Tue, Jul 16, 2019 at 9:24 AM Croft, Catherine M f .... b_l<6_l _____ ____.l wrote: 

Get Outlook for iOS 

From: ,_fb_)(6_l _______ ___, 

Sent: Tuesday, July 16, 2019 9:03:20 AM 
To: Taylor, William B (Kyiv); Kvien, Kristina A; Kyiv EXEC; b)(6l 
Kyiv POL Core; (b)(6) 

Kb)(6) I ~----------------------~ 

Cc: Kyiv 1Os; EUR-Ukraine Desk-DL; Kent, George P; ~l(b_l<_
5

l _________ ~ 
Yovanovitch, Marie L (Kyiv) 
Subject: Ukraine social media update: Video from MP Leshchenko about legal case about 
U.S. elections interference 

A Ukraine social media update: MP Serhiy Leshchenko published a video on his 
Facebook page this afternoon about a decision by a court of appeals in Kyiv today 
regarding alleged Ukrainian interference in U.S. presidential elections. 
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Below is a rough summary (not a polished transcript) of what Leshchenko says in the 
video. The video is available at 
https://www.facebook.com/leshchenko.ukraine/videos/2830664120337571/ 

Leshchenko is standing near the Court of Appeals in Kyiv to report that the court of 
appeals cancelled a decision, so he is not not an enemy of President Trump anymore. 

Prosecutor General Lutsenko, who will be the former Prosecutor General soon, and his 
friend from NABU Borys Rozemblat lost in court. The court decision is simple: to 
cancel the decision of Kyiv District Court and to deny Rozemblat's appeal. Rozemblat 
and his buddy wanted to, through the court decision, establish the fact of interference 
in the U.S. elections. Lutsenko showed these documents to Giuliani, and then Giuliani 
said live on Fox News there is a person, Serhiy Leshchenko, who is already prosecuted 
in Ukraine for interference in the U.S. elections, for revealing information of Paul 
Manafort and black bookkeeping of the Party of Regions. That Leshchenko together 
with Sytnyk revealed information about Manafort, and then Manafort was fired as 
Trump's campaign chief. Today all this nonsense has been dismissed. The court of 
appeals cancelled the decision of Kyiv district court and denied Rozemblat' s appeal. 
That means starting today, there are no decisions in Ukraine of the fact of interference 
or manipulation of Ukraine in U.S. elections, there is nothing. This cost Ukraine its 
reputation. Prosecutor General Lutsenko tried to keep his position, he wanted to sell 
himself as the best for Americans, Trump and Giuliani. He told them that there is a 
decision on interference and that is total nonsense. 

I [Leshchenko] am waiting now for Lutsenko who tried to sell and develop this 
information-nonsense, to call Rudy Giuliani and informed him of the new news, that 
this story was nonsense. We used arguments: MP is not a government person; he 
cannot be a defendant. Lutsenko promised in May to question me, announcing 
suspicion, none of this happened. Mr. Lutsenko is a liar, a person who has no shame, 
whose place is on the defendant's bench. I wish Lutsenko a quick dismissal and I wish 
that politics will forget him, he should answer in court for his inaction and bad actions 
as Prosecutor. He betrayed millions of Ukrainians, who trusted him in his political 
career. I also wish for Rozemblat to answer for his con-upt actions, which are being 
investigated by NABU, I wish for him to lose the elections. I wish for Ukraine a good 
Prosecutor General with legal qualifications, who will be honest, working in interest of 
all the people and not only his relatives, who will not help Yanukovych's associates, 
and now Poroshenko's associates. I wish that this person will serve not Zelenskyy, but 
all Ukrainian people and will honestly do the job and bring work and cases to a 
conclusion. 
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Leshchenko is running in Podil region in Kyiv, journalists can come and ask for his 
comments; it's sad that journalists who were reporting on Lutsenko's comments did 
not come to the court today. 

Official 

UNCLASSIFIED 

Sender: 

Recipient: 
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Croft, catherine M ~bl(5l 

Volker, Kurt D j(b)(6) 
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Released in Part 

From: Kurt Volker j(b)(6) I 

To: Josh Rogin ~b)(6) I 
CC: Volker, Kurt D fb)(6) I 

Subject: Re: You are in the news 

Date: Sat, 21 Sep 2019 18:28:24 -0400 

Thanks - appreciate it! 

On Sat, Sep 21, 2019 at 3 :45 PM Josh Rogin 1Cb)(6) I wrote: 
I totally understand, Kurt. Let me know if you change your mind. Happy to help you 
out if I can. 

Josh 

On Sat, Sep 21, 2019 at 2:01 PM Kurt VolkerjCb)(6) I wrote: 
Hi Josh -- you are absolutely right -- but i am not responding to any inquiries. 
Sorry! 

Amb. Kurt Volker 
Executive Director 
McCain Institute for International Leadership 
Arizona State University 

ASU Barrett & O'Connor Center 
1800 I Street NW, Suite 600, Washington, DC 20006 

I~'('' I 
www.McCainlnstitute.org 
Twitter• Facebook • lnstagram • YouTube • LinkedlN 

On Sat, Sep 21, 2019 at 12:03 PM Josh Rogin fbl(6) !wrote: 
John Solomon blames you (without naming you) for getting Rudy and Zelensky's 
people together. 

https :/ /thehi l l. corn/ opinion/white-house/4624 22-miss ing-piece-to-the-ukraine­
puzzle-state-departments-overture-to-rudy 

Also Vogel in the Times talks about you (without naming you) 
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https://www.nytimes.com/2019/09/20/us/politics/whistle-blower-trump­
grudge.html?action=click&module=Top%20Stories&pgtype=Homepage 

Can you talk? I'm thinking there's another side to this story. 

Josh 

Josh Rogin 
Columnist - Washington Post 
Political Analrt - CNN 

fbl( 6) - Mobile 
This message and any related attachments are hereby designated as confidential 
communications between the sender and named recipient. 

Josh Rogin 
Columnist - Washington Post 
Political Analyst - CNN 

l(b)(6l I Mobile 
This message and any related attachments are hereby designated as confidential 
communications between the sender and named recipient. 

Amb. Kurt Volker 
Executive Director 
McCain Institute for International Leadership 
Arizona State University 

ASU Barrett & O'Connor Center 
1800 I Street NW, Suite 600, Washington, DC 20006 

rb)(6) 

WWVv.McCainlnstitute.org 
Twitter• Facebook • lnstagram • YouTube • Linked IN 

Sender: 

Recipient: 

/\Mlf IC/\\ 
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Kurt Volker l 
Josh Ragin I 
Volker, Kurt u I 

(b)(6) 
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I 



STATE-19-1267-A-000028

F-2019-09097 7/14/2020 13 

Released in Part 

From: "Kurt Volker" fbl(6l 

String, Marik~(b)(6) 

To: 
Volker, Kurt D 
Daum, Margarec:~. b)(6) 
Carrillo, Pablo < (b)(6 

Subject: Testimony for October 3 

Date: Wed, 2 Oct 2019 18:24:02 -0400 

Hi Marik--

Here's the final version of testimony -- both a short form I'll read, and a long form with a 
lot of detail. 

Many thanks! ! - Kurt 

Amb. Kurt Volker 
Executive Director 
McCain Institute for International Leadership 
Arizona State University 

ASU Barrett & O'Connor Center 
1800 I Street NW, Suite 600, Washington, DC 20006 

1)(6) 

www.McCainlnstitute.org 
Twitter• Facebook • lnstaqram • YouTube • Linked IN 

Sender: 

Recipient: 

/\Mlf IC/\\ 
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"Kurt Volker" < 
(b)(6) 

String, Marik A 
Volker, Kurt D 
Daum, Margaret E. I 
Carrillo, Pablo 1 (b)(6) 

(b )(6) I 
I 



STATE-19-1267-A-000029

F-2019-09097 7/14/2020 14 

! Released in Full! 

Testimony before the House of Representatives Committee on Foreign Affairs, 
Permanent Select Committee on Intelligence, and Committee on Oversight 

Amb. Kurt Volker 
Former U.S. Special Representative for Ukraine Negotiations 

October 3, 2019 

Thank you very much for the opportunity to provide this testimony today. 

Allow me to begin by stressing that you and the American people can be reassured and proud 
that the Department of State and the Department of Defense, and the professionals working 
there-civil and foreign service and military-have conducted themselves with the highest 
degree of professionalism, integrity, and dedication to the national interest. That is a 
testament to the strength of our people, our institutions, and our country. 

As a former member of the Senior Foreign Service, and in conducting my role as U.S. Special 
Representative for Ukraine Negotiations, I have similarly acted solely to advance U.S. national 
interests, which included supporting democracy and reform in Ukraine; helping Ukraine better 
defend itself and deter Russian aggression; and leading U.S. negotiating efforts to end the war 
and restore Ukraine's territorial integrity. 

Throughout my career, whether as a career diplomat, U.S. Ambassador to NATO, or in my other 
capacities, I have tried to be courageous, energetic, clear-eyed and plain-spoken-always acting 
with integrity, to advance core American values and interests. My efforts as U.S. Special 
Representative for Ukraine Negotiations were no different. 

In carrying out this role, I at some stage found myself faced with a choice: to be aware of a 
problem and to ignore it, or rather to accept that it was my responsibility to try to fix it. 

I would not have been true to myself, my duties, or my commitment to the people of the 
United States or Ukraine, if I did not dive in and try to fix problems as best I could. 

There are five key points I would like to stress in this testimony, and I would like to submit a 
longer version and timeline of events for the record. Let me be clear that I wish to be complete 
and open in my testimony in order to help get the facts out and the record straight. 

First, my efforts were entirely focused on advancing U.S. foreign policy goals with respect to 
Ukraine. In this, we were quite successful. U.S. policy toward Ukraine for the past two years 
has been strong, consistent, and has enjoyed support across the Administration, bipartisan 
support in Congress, and support among our Allies and Ukraine. While I will not be there to 
lead these efforts any longer, I sincerely hope that we are able to keep this policy strong going 
forward. 
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You may recall that in the Spring of 2017, when then-Secretary of State Tillerson asked if I 
would take on these responsibilities, there were major, complicated questions swirling in public 
debate about the direction of U.S. policy toward Ukraine. 

Would the Administration lift sanctions against Russia? Would it make some kind of "grand 
bargain" with Russia, in which it would trade recognition of Russia's seizure of Ukrainian 
territory for some other deal in Syria or elsewhere? Would the Administration recognize 
Russia's claimed annexation of Crimea? Will this just become another frozen conflict? There 
were also a vast number of vacancies in key diplomatic positions, so no one was really 
representing the United States in the negotiating process about ending the war in eastern 
Ukraine. 

Caring deeply about supporting Ukraine; recognizing that it stands for all of us in building a 
democracy and pushing back Russian aggression on their soil; and seeking to make sure 
American policy is in the right place, I agreed to take on these responsibilities. Then-Secretary 
of State Tillerson and I agreed that our fundamental policy goals would be to restore the 
sovereignty and territorial integrity of Ukraine, and to assure the safety and security of all 
Ukrainian citizens, regardless of ethnicity, nationality or religion. 

I did this on a voluntary basis, with no salary paid by the U.S. taxpayer, simply because I 
believed it was important to serve our country in this way. I believed I could steer U.S. policy in 
the right direction. 

In two years, the track record speaks for itself. 

• I was the Administration's most outspoken figure highlighting Russia's ongoing 
aggression against Ukraine, and Russia's responsibility to end the war. 

• We coordinated closely with our European Allies and Canada, to maintain a united front 
against Russian aggression, and for Ukraine's democracy, reform, sovereignty, and 
territorial integrity. Ukraine policy is perhaps the one area where the U.S. and its 
European Allies are in lock-step. 

• This coordination helped to strengthen U.S. sanctions against Russia, and to maintain EU 
sanctions as well. 

• Along with others in the Administration, I strongly advocated for lifting the ban on the 
sale of lethal defensive arms to Ukraine, advocated for increasing U.S. security 
assistance to Ukraine, and urged other countries to follow the U.S. lead. 

• I engaged with our Allies, with Ukraine, and with Russia in negotiations to implement 
the Minsk Agreements, holding a firm line on insisting on the withdrawal of Russian 
forces, dismantling of the so-called "People's Republics," and restoring Ukrainian 
sovereignty and territorial integrity. 
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• In order to shine a spotlight on Russian aggression and to highlight the humanitarian 
plight suffered by the people in the Don bas as a result, I visited the war zone in Ukraine 
three times, with media in tow. 

• Together with others in the Administration, we kept U.S. policy steady through 
Presidential and Parliamentary elections in Ukraine, and worked hard to strengthen the 
U.S.-Ukraine bilateral relationship under the new President and government, helping 
shepherd a peaceful transition of power in Ukraine. 

In short, whereas two years ago, most observers would have said that time is on Russia's side, 
we have turned the tables, and time is now on Ukraine's side. 

Second, in May of this year, I became concerned that a negative narrative about Ukraine, 
fueled by assertions made by Ukraine's departing Prosecutor General, was reaching the 
President of the United States, and impeding our ability to support the new Ukrainian 
government as robustly as I believed we should. After sharing my concerns with the Ukrainian 
leadership, an advisor to President Zelenskyy asked me to connect him to the President's 
personal lawyer, Mayor Rudy Giuliani. I did so. I did so solely because I understood that the new 
Ukrainian leadership wanted to convince those, like Mayor Giuliani, who believed such a 
negative narrative about Ukraine, that times have changed and that, under President Zelenskyy, 
Ukraine is worthy of U.S. support. I also made clear to the Ukrainians, on a number of 
occasions, that Mayor Giuliani is a private citizen and the President's personal lawyer, and that 
he does not represent the United States government. 

Third, at no time was I aware of or took part in an effort to urge Ukraine to investigate former 
Vice President Biden. As you will see from the extensive text messages I am providing, which 
convey a sense of real-time dialogue with several different actors, Vice President Biden was 
never a topic of discussion. 

Moreover, as I was aware of public accusations about the Vice President, several times I 
cautioned the Ukrainians to distinguish between highlighting their own efforts to fight 
corruption domestically, including investigating Ukrainian individuals (something we support as 
a matter of U.S. policy), and doing anything that could be seen as impacting U.S. elections 
(which is in neither the United States' nor Ukraine's own interests). To the best of my 
knowledge, no such actions by Ukraine were ever taken, at least in part, I believe, because of 
the advice I gave them. 

Notably, I did not listen in on the July 25, 2019 phone call between President Trump and 
President Zelenskyy, and received only superficial readouts about that conversation afterwards. 
In addition, I was not aware that Vice President Biden's name was mentioned, or a request was 
made to investigate him, until the transcript of this call was released on September 25, 2019. 

Fourth, while executing my duties, I kept my colleagues at the State Department and National 
Security Council informed, and also briefed Congress, about my actions. This included in­
person meetings with senior U.S. officials at State, Defense, and the NSC, as well as staff 
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briefings on Capitol Hill, and public testimony in the Senate on June 18, 2019. I have an 
extensive record of public commentary about our Ukraine policy. I have no doubt that there is 
a substantial paper trail of State Department correspondence concerning my meetings with 
Ukrainians, Allies and so forth. As a matter of practice, I did not edit or "clear" on these 
messages, but told the reporting officers just to report as they normally would. 

Fifth and finally, I strongly supported the provision of U.S. security assistance, including lethal 
defensive weapons, to Ukraine throughout my tenure. I became aware of a hold on 
Congressional Notifications about proceeding with that assistance on July 18, 2019, and 
immediately tried to weigh in to reverse that position. I was confident that this position would 
indeed be reversed in the end, because the provision of such assistance was uniformly 
supported at State, Defense, NSC, the House of Representatives, the Senate, and the expert 
community in Washington. As I was confident the position would not stand, I did not discuss 
the hold with my Ukrainian counterparts until the matter became public in late August. The 
position was indeed reversed, and assistance allowed to continue, within a few weeks after 
that. 

I would now like to turn the matters of specific interest to this Committee. 

Contacts with Mayor Giuliani 

In the early months of 2019, I was aware of an emerging, negative narrative about Ukraine in 
the United States, fueled by accusations made by the then-Prosecutor General of Ukraine, Yuriy 
Lutsenko, that some Ukrainian citizens may have sought to influence the U.S. 2016 Presidential 
election, including by passing information they hoped would reach the Hillary Clinton campaign 
that was detrimental to the Donald Trump campaign. 

There was a second narrative, also fueled by the then-Prosecutor General, that the company, 
Burisma, had sought to garner influence with then-Vice President Bid en, by paying high fees to 
his son Hunter Biden. 

Mr. Lutsenko made these allegations in conversations with U.S. media, which gave them wide 
circulation, particularly among conservative media viewers. 

I was well aware of the situation in Ukraine, and had met Mr. Lutsenko once, during one of my 
visits to Ukraine in 2018. Ukraine has a well-deserved reputation for rampant corruption. 
Nonetheless, I believed that these accusations by Mr. Lutsenko were themselves self-serving, 
intended to make himself appear valuable to the United States, so that the United States might 
weigh in against his being removed from office by the new government. 

In addition, I have known former Vice President Biden for 24 years, and the suggestion that he 
would be influenced in his duties as Vice President by money for his son simply has no 
credibility to me. I know him as a man of integrity and dedication to our country. 
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In May, 2019, I learned that former New York Mayor Rudy Giuliani planned to travel to Ukraine 
to look into these accusations. I reached out to brief him before his visit - specifically, to tell 
him that Lutsenko is not credible and will be replaced once a new government takes office, and 
that I had met with President-elect Zelenskyy when he was a candidate, had subsequently been 
in touch with his advisors, and was convinced that he was sincerely committed to reform and to 
fighting corruption in Ukraine. 

We had a brief phone call, which ended as Mayor Giuliani needed to attend to another meeting 
or call. I texted afterward to offer to finish the conversation, but we did not speak again at that 
time. 

I later read that he canceled his trip, and that he asserted that President-elect Zelenskyy was 
surrounded by "enemies of the United States" - something with which I fundamentally 
disagreed. 

On May 21, I visited Ukraine as part of the U.S. Presidential Delegation to the Inauguration of 
the new President. Secretary of Energy Rick Perry led the delegation, and we were also joined 
by U.S. Ambassador to the European Union, Gordon Sandland, and U.S. Senator Ron Johnson. 

I do not recall any of the Lutsenko accusations coming up in the course of our meetings with 
Ukrainian officials. Instead, we had a very productive meeting with President Zelenskyy about 
his commitment to reform. He announced early Parliamentary elections that same day. We 
came away convinced that he was sincere about massive reform in Ukraine, would face 
significant internal opposition, and that he deserved strong U.S. support. We decided to seek a 
meeting with President Trump upon our return to the United States to brief him on our 
impressions and recommendations following the visit. 

We met as a group with President Trump on May 23. We stressed our finding that President 
Zelenskyy represented the best chance for getting Ukraine out of the mire of corruption it had 
been in for over 20 years. I argued that how the next 3-6 months played out would determine 
the future of Ukraine for the next 5 years. We urged him to invite President Zelenskyy to the 
White House. 

The President was very skeptical. Given Ukraine's history of corruption, that is understandable. 
He said that Ukraine was a corrupt country, full of "terrible people." He said they "tried to take 
me down." In the course of that conversation, he referenced conversations with Mayor 
Giuliani. It was clear to me that despite the positive news and recommendations being 
conveyed by this official delegation about the new President, President Trump had a deeply 
rooted negative view on Ukraine rooted in the past. He was clearly receiving other information 
from other sources, including Mayor Giuliani, that was more negative, causing him to retain this 
negative view. 

Within a few days, President Trump indeed signed the congratulatory letter to President 
Zelenskyy, which included an invitation to the President to visit him at the White House. 
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In the weeks that followed, I and several others sought to nail down a specific date for that 
visit, without result. No reason was given, but I believed that the President's long-held negative 
view toward Ukraine was causing hesitation in actually scheduling the meeting. 

Nonetheless, I continued to believe that once the two Presidents actually sat down together, 
President Trump would quickly conclude that President Zelenskyy is sincere in his commitment 
to reforming Ukraine, is a charismatic politician who enjoys the support of his people, and is 
worthy of U.S. support. 

On July 2, I met with President Zelenskyy and his delegation in Toronto, Canada, as I was the 
senior U.S. Representative attending a conference about reform in Ukraine. At the end of that 
meeting, I had a private conversation with President Zelenskyy, in which I explained that I 
believed that Mayor Giuliani continues to have a negative view of Ukraine based on assertions 
of actions that happened in 2016, and that this viewpoint is likely making its way to the 
President. I made clear that Mayor Giuliani does not speak for the U.S. government, but is a 
private citizen and the President's personal attorney. 

I stressed that those of us on the Presidential Delegation at his Inauguration understood that 
President Zelenskyy and his team had nothing to do with anything that happened in 2016, and 
that the best thing would be to have a bilateral meeting with President Trump. I said that as 
soon as that meeting would take place, I was confident that President Trump would be as 
impressed with President Zelenskyy as I and the others on our delegation had been, and that 
our bilateral relationship would flourish. 

It was clear to me that we had a growing problem in the negative narrative about Ukraine, built 
on these earlier accusations by Mr. Lutsenko, that was impeding the development of our 
bilateral relationship and the strengthening of our support for Ukraine. I therefore faced a 
choice: do nothing, and allow this situation to fester; or try to fix it. I tried to fix it. 

On July 10, 2019, I met a close aide to President Zelenskyy, Andrey Yermak, for coffee in 
Washington DC. We followed up the conversation about Mayor Giuliani, and he asked me to 
connect to him with Mayor Giuliani. I agreed to reach out to Mayor Giuliani and ask if he 
would agree to be connected. 

I did so- on July 10 writing to Mayor Giuliani to seek to get together, and finally on July 19 
meeting for breakfast for a longer discussion. 

At that breakfast, Mr. Giuliani was accompanied by Ukrainian-Amercian businessman Lev 
Parnas. We had a long conversation about Ukraine. To my surprise, Mr. Giuliani had already 
come to the conclusion on his own that Mr. Lutsenko was not credible and acting in a self­
serving capacity. He mentioned both the accusations about Vice President Biden and about 
interference in the 2016 election, and stressed that all he wanted to see was for Ukraine to 
investigate what happened in the past and apply its own laws. 

/\Mlf IC/\\ 
pVERSIGHT 



STATE-19-1267-A-000035

F-2019-09097 7/14/2020 20 

7 

I stressed my view that the current President of Ukraine is sincerely committed to rooting out 
corruption and reforming Ukraine. It is the best chance Ukraine has had to move forward in a 
generation, and he deserves U.S. support. 

Concerning the allegations, I stressed that no one in the new team governing Ukraine had 
anything to do with anything that may have happened in 2016 or before- they were making TV 
shows at the time. Mr. Lutsenko, however, would remain in place until a new government was 
seated in a month or more. It was important to reach out and provide strong U.S. support for 
President-elect Zelenskyy. 

I also said at that July 19 meeting that it is not credible to me that former Vice President Biden 
would have been influenced in anyway by financial or personal motives in carrying out his 
duties as Vice President. A different issue is whether some individual Ukrainians may have 
attempted to influence the 2016 election or thought they could buy influence: that is at least 
plausible, given Ukraine's reputation for corruption. But the accusation that Vice President 
Biden acted inappropriately did not seem at all credible to me. 

I followed up on the request from Andrey Yermak to be connected to Mayor Giuliani directly, 
and the Mayor said he would indeed like to connect. I stressed that I thought it was important 
that he get the facts straight from the new team, not from the outgoing Prosecutor General or 
others who have a different self-interest. 

That day, July 19, I connected the two of them by text message, and facilitated a phone 
conversation which took place on July 22. During that conversation, they agreed to meet in 
Madrid in early August, 2019. 

In a few follow up messages, Mr. Yermak was concerned that he had not heard back from 
Mayor Giuliani about scheduling the meeting in Madrid, so I stepped in again to put them back 
in touch so the meeting would be scheduled. It took place on August 2, 2019. 

After they met, both Mayor Giuliani and Mr. Yermak called me to give me their impressions. 
Both were positive. Neither said anything about Vice President Biden. Mayor Giuliani said that 
he had stressed the importance of Ukraine conducting investigations into what happened in the 
past, and Mr. Yermak stressed that he told Mayor Giuliani it is the government's program to 
root out corruption and implement reforms, and they would be conducting investigations as 
part of this process anyway. 

Later, possibly on August 7, Mayor Giuliani called both me and Amb. Gordon Sandland to 
provide a more detailed readout. We expressed our hope that Mayor Giuliani would convey to 
the President his positive impression of the new leadership in Ukraine, and reassure the 
President that the advice he was getting from us - to schedule the White House visit of 
President Zelenskyy- was the right thing to do. 
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Mayor Giuliani then said he believed the Ukrainian President needed to make a statement 
about fighting corruption, and that he had discussed this with Mr. Yermak. I said that I did not 
think this would be a problem, since that is the government's position anyway. 

I followed up with Mr. Yermak, and he said that they would indeed be prepared to make a 
statement. He said it would reference Burisma and 2016, in a wider context of rooting out 
corruption anyway. There was no mention of Vice President Biden. Rather, in referencing 
Burisma, it was clear he was only talking about whether any Ukrainians had acted 
inappropriately. 

On August 16, Mr. Yermak shared a draft with me, which I thought looked perfectly reasonable. 
It did not mention Burisma or 2016 elections, but was generic. I conveyed this draft to Amb. 
Sandland, who agreed it was an excellent statement. We had a further conversation with 
Mayor Giuliani, who said that in his view, the statement should include specific reference to 
"Burisma" and "2016." Again, there was no mention of Vice President Biden in these 
conversations. 

Amb. Sandland and I discussed these points, and I edited the draft statement by Mr. Yermak to 
include these points to see how it looked. I then discussed further with Mr. Yermak. He said 
that for a number of reasons - including the fact that Mr. Lutsenko was still officially the 
Prosecutor General -- they do not want to mention Burisma and 2016. I agreed - and further 
said that I believe it is essential that Ukraine do nothing that could be seen as interfering in 
2020 elections. It is bad enough that accusations have been made about 2016 - it is essential 
that Ukraine not be involved in anything relating to 2020. He agreed and the idea of putting 
out a statement was shelved. The point about Ukraine avoiding anything that could play into 
U.S. elections in 2020 is a message that I know our Charge in Ukraine, Amb. Bill Taylor, 
reinforced in other meetings. 

During this time, I informed Secretary of State Pompeo, Counselor Brechbuhl, National Security 
Advisor Bolton, NSC staff, and Charge Amb. Bill Taylor on various occasions that I was engaged 
in these conversations, and was seeking to steer them in a way to reinforce an accurate picture 
of the Ukrainian leadership's commitment to reform and fighting corruption .. 

According to my records, the last contact I had with Mr. Giuliani about any of these things at 
that time was August 13. The next contact between us was his attempt to call me, after the 
current news cycle broke, on September 21. I did not return the call right away. I consulted 
with the Counselor of the State Department, Ulrich Brechbuhl, on September 22. Mr. Giuliani 
sent a number of text messages to me on September 23. 

I spoke with Secretary of State Pompeo on September 23. Secretary Pompeo said that he had 
been called by Mayor Giuliani, who asked that the State Department confirm that it had 
arranged the meeting between himself and Mr. Yermak. I told the Secretary that the State 
Department Spokesperson had already confirmed this, in a statement given to the press on 
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August 22. Secretary Pompeo asked me to call Mr. Giuliani back, tell him this, and share a copy 
of that statement. I did so. 

U.S. Security Assistance 

As is well documented, I had long supported lifting the ban on lethal defensive assistance to 
Ukraine, advocated for the supply of javelin anti-tank systems, advocated for an increase in U.S. 
assistance, and urged other nations to provide more assistance as well. 

The issue of a hold placed on security assistance to Ukraine also came up during this same time 
I was connecting Mr. Yermak and Mayor Giuliani. I did not perceive these issues to be linked in 
any way. 

On July 18, I was informed that at an interagency (sub-PCC) meeting, 0MB had said that there 
was a hold being placed on Congressional Notifications about security assistance to Ukraine. 
No reason was given. 

A higher level interagency meeting (PCC) was then scheduled to take place to discuss the issue 
on July 23. I met in advance with the individual who would represent the State Department at 
that meeting, Assistant Secretary of State for Pol-Mil Affairs, R. Clarke Cooper. I stressed how 
important it was to keep the security assistance moving - for Ukraine's self-defense, deterrence 
of further Russian aggression, as a symbol of our bilateral support for Ukraine, and as part of 
having a strong position going into any negotiations with Russia. He fully agreed and intended 
to represent that position at the PCC meeting. I also had separate conversations with the 
Pentagon and NSC staff to reiterate the same position. 

I was told later that there was no outcome from the PCC meeting. That said, I was not overly 
concerned about the development because I believed the decision would ultimately be 
reversed. Everything from the force of law to the unanimous position of the House, Senate, 
Pentagon, State Department, and NSC staff argued for going forward, and I knew it would just 
be a matter of time. 

July 25 Phone Call 

I departed for a long-planned trip to Ukraine on July 23. I had avoided going to Ukraine during 
the course of the Parliamentary election campaign, just as I had during the Presidential run-off, 
to avoid any possible perception of U.S. intervention in the Ukrainian elections. The 
Parliamentary election took place on July 21, so I felt I could visit afterwards, congratulate the 
President, and visit the conflict zone in Eastern Ukraine, something I did each year. I 
particularly wanted to support President Zelenskyy's decision to pull back Ukrainian forces at 
Stanitsia Luhanska and to urge Russian forces to do the same. 
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During this time, I had also been urging that the President make a congratulatory phone call 
after the Parliamentary election - especially since we still did not have a date for a White House 
visit. A congratulatory call would keep the relationship warm. 

On July 24, I had meetings in Vienna at the OSCE, and then continued on to Kyiv, arriving just 
after midnight. Even though I had been pressing for a Presidential congratulatory phone call, I 
still did not know whether or when such a call was to be scheduled until I was already en route 
to Kyiv. 

We had meetings all day in Kyiv on July 25, including lunch with Mr. Yermak, and then met with 
President Zelenskyy on July 26. U.S. Charge Amb. Taylor and I then visited the conflict zone 
later that same day. We spoke to the press in Stanitsia Luhanska on July 26, and I gave a press 
conference in Kyiv on July 27. 

The Presidential phone call took place on July 25, the day before I met with President 
Zelenskyy, along with Amb. Sondland and Amb. Taylor. 

I was not on the July 25 phone call. I received a general readout via our Charge and my own 
State Dept. staffer, as well as from Mr. Yermak. All said it was a good, congratulatory call, that 
they discussed the importance of fighting corruption and promoting reform in Ukraine, and that 
President Trump reiterated his invitation to President Zelenskyy to visit the White House. I was 
not made aware of any reference to Vice President Biden or his son, which I only learned about 
when the transcript of the call was released on September 25, 2019. 

No mention of security assistance was made in the readouts either, and I said so in my press 
remarks on July 27, 2019, in Kyiv. 

Ambassador Yovanovitch 

I have known Ambassador Yovanovitch since we served together in London in 1988. 
Throughout our careers, we have worked together at various times. When I was serving as the 
Principal Deputy Assistant Secretary of State for European Affairs, I recommended her strongly 
to serve as U.S. Ambassador to Armenia, which she did quite capably. 

I have always known her to be professional, capable, dedicated to the national interest, and of 
the highest integrity. 

Avoiding Conflicts of Interest 

Before accepting the position as U.S. Special Representative for Ukraine Negotiations, I worked 
carefully with Department of State lawyers to identify and prevent any possible conflicts of 
interest. 
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Given my commitment to building the McCain Institute at Arizona State University, as well as a 
number of other personal considerations, I did not want to accept a full-time, paid position in 
the Department of State. Rather, I preferred to work on a part-time, voluntary, and non­
compensated basis, which allowed me to continue with my other duties. 

I therefore set out a detailed set of ethics undertakings with the Department, and recused 
myself from any Ukraine-related activities elsewhere - particularly at BGR Group, where I serve 
as a senior international advisor to the firm. Per prior agreement when I joined Arizona State 
University, I do not do any client-specific work for the firm, nor do I engage in any 
representational activities. Upon becoming U.S. Special Representative for Ukraine 
Negotiations, I immediately notified the firm that I was recusing myself from all Ukraine-related 
activity. All of these documents are available to the Committee. 
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Testimony before the House of Representatives Committee on Foreign Affairs, 
Permanent Select Committee on Intelligence, and Committee on Oversight 

Amb. Kurt Volker 
Former U.S. Special Representative for Ukraine Negotiations 

October 3, 2019 

Thank you very much for the opportunity to provide this testimony today. 

Allow me to begin by stressing that you and the American people can be reassured and proud 
that the Department of State and the Department of Defense, and the professionals working 
there-civil and foreign service and military-have conducted themselves with the highest 
degree of professionalism, integrity, and dedication to the national interest. That is a 
testament to the strength of our people, our institutions, and our country. 

As a former member of the Senior Foreign Service, and in conducting my role as U.S. Special 
Representative for Ukraine Negotiations, I have similarly acted solely to advance U.S. national 
interests, which included supporting democracy and reform in Ukraine; helping Ukraine better 
defend itself and deter Russian aggression; and leading U.S. negotiating efforts to end the war 
and restore Ukraine's territorial integrity. 

Throughout my career, whether as a career diplomat, U.S. Ambassador to NATO, or in my other 
capacities, I have tried to be courageous, energetic, clear-eyed and plain-spoken-always acting 
with integrity, to advance core American values and interests. My efforts as U.S. Special 
Representative for Ukraine Negotiations were no different. 

In carrying out this role, I at some stage found myself faced with a choice: to be aware of a 
problem and to ignore it, or rather to accept that it was my responsibility to try to fix it. 

I would not have been true to myself, my duties, or my commitment to the people of the 
United States or Ukraine, if I did not dive in and try to fix problems as best I could. 

There are five key points I would like to stress in this testimony, and I would like to submit a 
longer version and timeline of events for the record. Let me be clear that I wish to be complete 
and open in my testimony in order to help get the facts out and the record straight. 

First, my efforts were entirely focused on advancing U.S. foreign policy goals with respect to 
Ukraine. In this, we were quite successful. U.S. policy toward Ukraine for the past two years 
has been strong, consistent, and has enjoyed support across the Administration, bipartisan 
support in Congress, and support among our Allies and Ukraine. While I will not be there to 
lead these efforts any longer, I sincerely hope that we are able to keep this policy strong going 
forward. 
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You may recall that in the Spring of 2017, when then-Secretary of State Tillerson asked if I 
would take on these responsibilities, there were major, complicated questions swirling in public 
debate about the direction of U.S. policy toward Ukraine. 

Would the Administration lift sanctions against Russia? Would it make some kind of "grand 
bargain" with Russia, in which it would trade recognition of Russia's seizure of Ukrainian 
territory for some other deal in Syria or elsewhere? Would the Administration recognize 
Russia's claimed annexation of Crimea? Will this just become another frozen conflict? There 
were also a vast number of vacancies in key diplomatic positions, so no one was really 
representing the United States in the negotiating process about ending the war in eastern 
Ukraine. 

Caring deeply about supporting Ukraine; recognizing that it stands for all of us in building a 
democracy and pushing back Russian aggression on their soil; and seeking to make sure 
American policy is in the right place, I agreed to take on these responsibilities. Then-Secretary 
of State Tillerson and I agreed that our fundamental policy goals would be to restore the 
sovereignty and territorial integrity of Ukraine, and to assure the safety and security of all 
Ukrainian citizens, regardless of ethnicity, nationality or religion. 

I did this on a voluntary basis, with no salary paid by the U.S. taxpayer, simply because I 
believed it was important to serve our country in this way. I believed I could steer U.S. policy in 
the right direction. 

In two years, the track record speaks for itself. 

• I was the Administration's most outspoken figure highlighting Russia's ongoing 
aggression against Ukraine, and Russia's responsibility to end the war. 

• We coordinated closely with our European Allies and Canada, to maintain a united front 
against Russian aggression, and for Ukraine's democracy, reform, sovereignty, and 
territorial integrity. Ukraine policy is perhaps the one area where the U.S. and its 
European Allies are in lock-step. 

• This coordination helped to strengthen U.S. sanctions against Russia, and to maintain EU 
sanctions as well. 

• Along with others in the Administration, I strongly advocated for lifting the ban on the 
sale of lethal defensive arms to Ukraine, advocated for increasing U.S. security 
assistance to Ukraine, and urged other countries to follow the U.S. lead. 

• I engaged with our Allies, with Ukraine, and with Russia in negotiations to implement 
the Minsk Agreements, holding a firm line on insisting on the withdrawal of Russian 
forces, dismantling of the so-called "People's Republics," and restoring Ukrainian 
sovereignty and territorial integrity. 

• In order to shine a spotlight on Russian aggression and to highlight the humanitarian 
plight suffered by the people in the Don bas as a result, I visited the war zone in Ukraine 
three times, with media in tow. 
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• Together with others in the Administration, we kept U.S. policy steady through 
Presidential and Parliamentary elections in Ukraine, and worked hard to strengthen the 
U.S.-Ukraine bilateral relationship under the new President and government, helping 
shepherd a peaceful transition of power in Ukraine. 

In short, whereas two years ago, most observers would have said that time is on Russia's side, 
we have turned the tables, and time is now on Ukraine's side. 

Second, in May of this year, I became concerned that a negative narrative about Ukraine, 
fueled by assertions made by Ukraine's departing Prosecutor General, was reaching the 
President of the United States, and impeding our ability to support the new Ukrainian 
government as robustly as I believed we should. After sharing my concerns with the Ukrainian 
leadership, an advisor to President Zelenskyy asked me to connect him to the President's 
personal lawyer, Mayor Rudy Giuliani. I did so. I did so solely because I understood that the new 
Ukrainian leadership wanted to convince those, like Mayor Giuliani, who believed such a 
negative narrative about Ukraine, that times have changed and that, under President Zelenskyy, 
Ukraine is worthy of U.S. support. I also made clear to the Ukrainians, on a number of 
occasions, that Mayor Giuliani is a private citizen and the President's personal lawyer, and that 
he does not represent the United States government. 

Third, at no time was I aware of or took part in an effort to urge Ukraine to investigate former 
Vice President Biden. As you will see from the extensive text messages I am providing, which 
convey a sense of real-time dialogue with several different actors, Vice President Biden was 
never a topic of discussion. 

Moreover, as I was aware of public accusations about the Vice President, several times I 
cautioned the Ukrainians to distinguish between highlighting their own efforts to fight 
corruption domestically, including investigating Ukrainian individuals (something we support as 
a matter of U.S. policy), and doing anything that could be seen as impacting U.S. elections 
(which is in neither the United States' nor Ukraine's own interests). To the best of my 
knowledge, no such actions by Ukraine were ever taken, at least in part, I believe, because of 
the advice I gave them. 

Notably, I did not listen in on the July 25, 2019 phone call between President Trump and 
President Zelenskyy, and received only superficial readouts about that conversation afterwards. 
In addition, I was not aware that Vice President Biden's name was mentioned, or a request was 
made to investigate him, until the transcript of this call was released on September 25, 2019. 

Fourth, while executing my duties, I kept my colleagues at the State Department and National 
Security Council informed, and also briefed Congress, about my actions. This included in­
person meetings with senior U.S. officials at State, Defense, and the NSC, as well as staff 
briefings on Capitol Hill, and public testimony in the Senate on June 18, 2019. I have an 
extensive record of public commentary about our Ukraine policy. I have no doubt that there is 
a substantial paper trail of State Department correspondence concerning my meetings with 
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Ukrainians, Allies and so forth. As a matter of practice, I did not edit or "clear" on these 
messages, but told the reporting officers just to report as they normally would. 

Fifth and finally, I strongly supported the provision of U.S. security assistance, including lethal 
defensive weapons, to Ukraine throughout my tenure. I became aware of a hold on 
Congressional Notifications about proceeding with that assistance on July 18, 2019, and 
immediately tried to weigh in to reverse that position. I was confident that this position would 
indeed be reversed in the end, because the provision of such assistance was uniformly 
supported at State, Defense, NSC, the House of Representatives, the Senate, and the expert 
community in Washington. As I was confident the position would not stand, I did not discuss 
the hold with my Ukrainian counterparts until the matter became public in late August. The 
position was indeed reversed, and assistance allowed to continue, within a few weeks after 
that. 

Thank you for the opportunity to provide this testimony, and I look forward to answering your 
questions. 
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